ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

FRANK TERRANCE SINGLETON, III,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002004

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the court err by failing to limit expert testimony regarding firearms and toolmark identification where the record revealed the identification was not based upon reliable science?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Kershaw County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the October 17, 2012 term of General Sessions for murder, armed robbery, first degree burglary, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 567. His case was called to trial on September 8, 2014 before the Honorable D. Craig Brown, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Kathryn Campbell, Joanna McDuffie, and Daniel Coble represented the state, and Doug Strickler and Jason Kirincich represented Appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on September 11, 2014, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 527, l. 14 – 528, l. 7. Judge Brown sentenced him to life without parole for both murder and first degree burglary, thirty years for armed robbery, and one day for the weapons offense.¹ The court ordered all the sentences to be served consecutively. R. 533, l. 25 – 535, l. 3.

This appeal follows.

¹ Before trial, the state served Appellant and his counsel with notice of its intent to seek a sentence of life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 based on Appellant's prior conviction for murder from 2014. See R. 530, l. 19 – 531, l. 6.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Around 4:00 pm on the afternoon of November 14, 2008, Robert Mackey was sitting at the kitchen table in his mobile home with his two children, ages twelve and five. Suddenly, five black males wearing ski masks entered the home through the front door. R. 397, l. 12 – 399, l. 19. As they entered, one of the men yelled “Kershaw County Police Department” and then demanded the children “get down on the floor.” R. 399, ll. 20-23. As the children got down, two of the men approached Mackey, who was still sitting on a stool, and demanded, “Where’s the money? Where’s the dope?” They then shot Mackey once in the leg and continued to demand, “Where’s the money? Where’s the dope?” When Mackey did not respond, one of the men picked up Mackey’s five-year-old daughter from the floor, put a gun to her head, and said, “Where is the money and dope or I’ll shoot her.” R. 400, l. 1 – 402, l. 12.

The men eventually forced Mackey into the master bedroom where they continued to strike him and demand money and drugs. While the men were in the back bedroom with Mackey, there was a knock at the front door. R. 402, l. 15 – 403, l. 8. The knock was from Robert Sullivan, who had come to the home to purchase marijuana. R. 89, ll. 18-21. Several of the men answered the door and one put a gun in Sullivan’s face. Sullivan turned and ran. He was shot in the head as he was running from the home. R. 90, l. 15 – 91, l. 18. During this commotion, Mackey fled from the master bedroom and out the front door. Mackey was shot in the chest in the front yard after a struggle with one of the armed men. The men ultimately fled on foot.

Mackey and Sullivan were both able to make it to the neighbor’s home across the street where EMS eventually arrived. R. 404, l. 10 – 405, l. 16. Sullivan was treated and

released that day from the hospital. R. 95, ll. 8-12. Mackey was air lifted from a local hospital to Carolina Medical Center in Charlotte due to the critical nature of his injuries. He was in a coma for over two months and was not able to give any statements to law enforcement. He eventually died of his injuries on January 24, 2009 without ever waking. R. 158, l. 1 – 160, l. 21; R. 127, ll. 22-23.

Janice Ross, the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy, testified that Mackey died from an infection called peritonitis that started in his intestines and spread throughout his body. The infection was caused by the gunshot wound to the chest which had damaged Mackey's intestines. Ross maintained that this infection caused multi-organ failure, including liver and kidney failure, which was the ultimate cause of death. R. 132, l. 1 – 133, l. 18; R. 135, ll. 2-4.

The law enforcement officers who processed the scene found one shotgun shell casing and one .45 caliber shell casing outside in the front yard. They also noticed that the front door had been kicked in. Once inside, the officers found blood in the kitchen and a bullet hole in the kitchen floor. Despite efforts, they were never able to locate the bullet that went through the floor. R. 165, ll. 9 – 166, l. 2. They also discovered a trail of blood leading to the master bedroom from the kitchen and more blood in the bedroom. R. 156, l. 10 – 157, l. 21; R. 111l. 7 – 112, l. 16. For whatever reason, the officers did not process the home for latent fingerprints or for DNA. R. 175, ll. 10-19; R. 114, l. 13-24; R. 118, l. 12 – 120, l. 12.

Law enforcement was unable to develop any suspects in 2008 and the case eventually went cold. R. 161, l. 22 – 162, l. 3. It was not until the summer of 2011 when officers finally received a new lead in the case. Lieutenant Justin Dill with the Kershaw

County Sheriff's Office was informed that an inmate at the local detention center had some information regarding this case. Information from this unidentified inmate led to Jerome Lewis, also known as Sticky, who was also an inmate at the Kershaw County Detention Center. Dill interviewed Jerome Lewis. The information Jerome provided led to Darrien Jackson, also known as Diablo. Dill and Special Agent Lee Blackmon of SLED travelled to Florence to interview Jackson. Jackson was very eager to offer his version and "gave a very detailed, very lengthy story of all the events from before it happened to everything that happened afterwards." R. 409, l. 8 – 414, l. 25. Jackson was arrested after his interview and charged for his participation in the armed robbery and murder. After interviewing Jackson, Dill had a list of people he wanted to speak with about the case. Some of the more significant people Dill interviewed were Randy Lewis and William Smith, both of whom admitted involvement in this crime and were subsequently arrested.

Jerome Lewis, Darrien Jackson, Randy Lewis, and William Smith all testified against Appellant at trial. Their testimony was largely consistent with each other. Based on their testimony it appears Jerome learned of Robert Mackey through a woman he was dating. This woman told Jerome that Mackey sold cocaine and other drugs. R. 185, l. 13 – 186, l. 11.

On November 14, 2008, Darrien Jackson, Randy Lewis, Will Smith, Appellant, and a man named Richard Roach allegedly set out to rob Mackey.² R. 215, l. 10 – 216, l. 6. Smith was armed with a 12 gauge shotgun, Appellant allegedly with a .45 caliber semi-automatic pistol, and Jackson with a .22 revolver. R. 291, l. 7 – 292, l. 7. Smith drove the

² Richard Roach did not cooperate with law enforcement and refused to give any statements. R. 437, ll. 6-18.

group in a 1992 Mercury Grand Marquis that belonged to a man named Rasheed Halley. R. 62, l. 12 – 64, l. 16. Jerome stayed behind with his girlfriend “to make it look like . . . we ain’t had nothing to do with it.” R. 191, ll. 19-25. All the men had masks to cover their faces and, on the way to Mackey’s home, they stopped at a convenience store and bought gloves. R. 290, l. 13 – 291, l. 6; R. 218, ll. 13-21. Smith parked the car on a dirt road behind Mackey’s mobile home and the men walked through the woods to an abandoned trailer. R. 216, l. 17 – 217, l. 3; R. 218, l. 22 – 219, l. 3; R. 254, ll. 2-8.

They waited in the abandoned trailer until “the time was right.” They were able to see Mackey’s home from the abandoned trailer and observed a lot of “traffic” so they thought their information about Mackey having drugs was accurate. R. 219, ll. 4-18; R. 294, l. 2 – 295, l. 10; R. 333, l. 25 – 334, l. 6. At some point, the men decided “it was time,” and approached the front door of Mackey’s mobile home. Appellant allegedly kicked in the front door, entered the home first, and yelled “Kershaw County Police Department.” R. 295, l. 4 – 296, l. 5; R. 220, ll. 9-19; R. 224, l. 22 – 225, l. 7. Jackson, Randy, Roach, and Smith all allegedly entered the home after Appellant. They found Mackey and his two children in the kitchen. Jackson admitted to shooting Mackey in the leg. He claimed this was planned in advance because he had the smallest caliber firearm and it would do the least amount of “damage.” R. 296, l. 6 – 297, l. 4.

Jackson also admitted that after he shot Mackey in the leg, he picked up the little girl from the floor and told Mackey if he did not tell them where the money and “dope” was located, he would shoot her. R. 220, l. 20 – 223, l. 1. However, Mackey “just didn’t want to talk. He just didn’t want to tell where it was at.” R. 297, l. 15 – 299, l. 2. The men then forced Mackey into the back bedroom and Appellant allegedly struck him in the head with

his pistol. R. 298, l. 12 – 299, l. 23; R. 223, l. 2 – 224, l. 7. Once in the bedroom, Mackey told the men there was a safe in the closet. Suddenly, while the men were looking for the safe, there was a knock at the front door. R. 299, l. 24 – 300, l. 8; R. 224, ll. 8-16.

Appellant, Smith, and Jackson allegedly went to answer the door while Roach and Randy, who were both unarmed, stayed with Mackey. Smith opened the door, pointed a shotgun at the man outside, and “told him to come on in,” but the man resisted and “wouldn’t come in.” R. 300, l. 9 – 301, l. 10; R. 225, ll. 11-23. Mackey then escaped from the bedroom and ran out the front door. R. 226, l. 23 – 227, l. 7. He jumped on Jackson’s back who was now outside. Mackey tried to grab Jackson’s gun and “the trigger went off.” Then, suddenly, Mackey jumped on Appellant’s back and Appellant “turn[ed] around and [shot] him in the chest area.” R. 301, l. 12 – 304, l. 16; R. 228, ll. 7-25. Mackey took off running and Smith fired the shotgun at Mackey as he was fleeing. The men then ran back to their car that was parked on the dirt road and left. R. 304, l. 22 – 305, l. 24; R. 229, ll. 6-25. Jackson alleged that at some point Appellant ran back into the house and grabbed the safe as the men were leaving and carried the safe to the car. R. 306, l. 20 – 307, l. 5; R. 231, ll. 1-25.

After the robbery, Appellant, Randy, Smith, Roach, Jackson, Jerome, and a few others allegedly drove out to the “country” to have a man open the safe. The only item inside the safe was a paper notebook. There was no money or drugs. The men also allegedly stole a .22 caliber handgun from Mackey’s mobile home. R. 308, l. 9 – 310, l. 21; R. 232, ll. 1-19.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by failing to limit expert testimony regarding firearms and toolmark identification where the record revealed the identification was not based upon reliable science.

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel filed a written motion in limine to limit the testimony of the firearm and toolmark examiner who analyzed alleged evidence in this case. This motion was marked as Court's Exhibit No. 2. Counsel explained during pretrial proceedings that he was challenging firearm and toolmark examiner Suzann Cromer's opinion that a shell casing found at the scene and the bullet jacket recovered from Mackey's body matched or was fired from the .45 caliber semi-automatic pistol recovered in 2011 during a search of a residence nearly three years after the incident.³ Counsel argued "there was no scientific basis for such a conclusion." R. 13, ll. 1-9.

The state called Suzann Cromer to testify in camera in response to Appellant's motion. Cromer initially testified about her educational background and experience. She said she earned a Bachelor's degree from Clemson University and completed some graduate

³ The .45 caliber semi-automatic pistol was found in May 2011 during the execution of a search warrant associated with a completely unrelated narcotics investigation. R. 441, l. 15 – 442, l. 1. This firearm was "unique" because the barrel of the gun extended an inch past the frame of the weapon and it had "the word Grizzly stamped into the side of it in large letters." R. 443, ll. 2-7. Lieutenant Justin Dill testified that when Darrien Jackson was describing the gun allegedly used by Appellant to shoot Mackey, he recalled the firearm seized months earlier during the narcotics investigation and believed it could be the same weapon. As a result, the gun was sent to SLED for comparison testing to the evidence that was submitted in 2008. R. 442, ll. 1-16.

work at the University of South Carolina.⁴ After her formal schooling, Cromer completed SLED's in house training program for firearm and toolmark examiners, "which is a three to five year extensive program where we train under court qualified firearm examiners." She maintained that SLED's training program was "more of an apprenticeship."

In addition to her training at SLED, Cromer explained that she also attended conferences organized by the Association of Firearm and Toolmark Examiners, the South Carolina Chapter of the International Association of Identification, and the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms. Moreover, she has been qualified as an expert in state court to testify in firearm and toolmark identification approximately seventy-seven times. R. 14, l. 13 – 15, l. 23.

When given evidence to analyze, Cromer explained that she first examines the evidence to determine whether it is suitable for identification, weighs it, measures it, and notes its composition. She then examines the firearm and determines whether it functions properly, its caliber, and what type of rifling it has. At this stage, she is ready to test fire the firearm. After test firing the weapon, she microscopically compares the "test specimens that [she] knowingly fired" to each other and notes the consistency of the markings. Lastly, Cromer then compares the "test specimens" to the unknown evidence. R. 16, ll. 3-20.

Cromer testified that she may reach one of four conclusions: a positive conclusion, meaning this cartridge case or this bullet was fired by this gun; a negative conclusion, meaning this cartridge case or this bullet was not fired by this gun; an unsuitable conclusion, meaning this particular piece of evidence did not have enough markings on it for her to

⁴ Cromer did not indicate whether her degree was a Bachelor of Arts or a Bachelor of Science nor did she specify what major she studied. Later in her testimony, she indicated that her graduate work was in the field of criminal justice. R. 27, ll. 15-18.

render a conclusion; or an inconclusive result, meaning there was not enough corresponding markings for her to say that the cartridge case or bullet was fired by that gun or that it was not fired by that gun. R. 16, l. 21 – 17, l. 11.

Cromer explained that at SLED, the examiners use the Association of Firearm and Toolmark Examiners' "theory of identification" to determine whether there is a sufficient number of "individual identifying markings" to conclude that the unknown evidence was fired by a specific firearm. She maintained that after an examiner comes to a conclusion, he or she must have another qualified firearms examiner analyze the evidence and agree with the first examiner's conclusion before the first examiner may issue a report. R. 17, l. 15 – 18, l. 25.

In this case, Cromer testified that she examined the cartridge case and the fired bullet jacket that were submitted to her in 2008 along with the .45 caliber firearm that was submitted in 2011. She found "sufficient agreement" between the cartridge case and the fired bullet jacket "to state that they were indeed fired by the .45 semi-automatic pistol." R. 25, ll. 12-18. She further maintained that based on her education, training, background, and participation in research studies, she believed "that another firearm having that much agreement would be a practical impossibility." R. 25, l. 24 – 26, l. 5. Moreover, Cromer testified that her conclusions were verified by former Lieutenant Ira Byrd Parnell, who was with SLED for approximately forty-two years and had recently retired. R. 19, l. 11 – 20, l. 9.

Cromer maintained that firearm identification has existed since the 1800s and that examiners have been using the comparison microscope to analyze cartridge cases and fired bullets since 1925. While the technology has been updated, she claimed that the comparison

microscope is the still the main tool used to identify firearms today. R. 20, l. 10 – 21, l. 1. Additionally, Cromer testified that there are several studies that SLED relies on to access the validity and reliability of their firearm and toolmark identifications. One such study is the “Hamby Ten Consecutively made Ruger barrel,” which was originally published in 1998 and then republished in 2009. SLED has also participated in the Fadul’s Glock Ebis Barrel Test and the Glock Cartridge Case Test. Moreover, Cromer claimed there have been over one hundred studies on firearm identification in the last hundred years. R. 21, l. 6 – 22, l. 14. She also maintained that she was not aware of any study that discredits the methodology she uses. R. 24, ll. 8-12.

On cross-examination, Cromer admitted that her Bachelor’s degree from Clemson had nothing to do with firearm and toolmark identification and that all of her training was completed at SLED. R. 27, ll. 9-24.

She testified that firearm and toolmark examiners first look for “class characteristics” that are not “unique” to a specific weapon, but to a class of firearms. Examples of “class characteristics” are “same caliber,” “same rifling,” “same number of lands and grooves,” “same dimension,” and “same twist or raves of direction of spin.” Examiners then look for “sub-class characteristics” that are the “minor imperfections from the production process.” Lastly, examiners look for “individual characteristics” that are “unique” to each firearm. Cromer maintained that in her field, there is no definition of what constitutes “sufficient agreement” in order for there to be an identification. She explained that there is not a specific number of “individual characteristics” that must “match up” in order for an examiner to conclude that the evidence was fired from a specific firearm. R. 31, l. 19 – 33, l. 22.

Cromer maintained that she does not “have a personal error rate,” but that in the “study [she] participated in last year the error rate for false positives was one percent” and the error rate for “false negatives was .367 percent.” R. 35, ll. 9-23. She also testified that in a study completed by the Collaborative Testing Services from 1992 until 2005, the error rate for false positives was 1.5 percent and the error rate for false negatives was 0.5 percent. R. 35, ll. 21-25.

Arguments and Ruling

After Cromer’s in camera testimony, defense counsel argued that, while he had no objection to her qualifications, her testimony before the jury should be limited. He argued that she should not be permitted to testify that the fired shell casing and bullet jacket collected from the scene in this case were fired from the .45 caliber pistol at the exclusion of all other firearms. Instead, her conclusion in this case should be limited to she cannot exclude the .45 caliber pistol as the weapon that fired the collected bullet jacket and shell casing. Counsel argued that based on the studies cited in his written motion, there is no scientific basis for the conclusions Cromer made in her report. He specifically mentioned a report published by the National Research Council, which is an operating agency of the National Academy of Sciences, and argued that the conclusions made by firearm and toolmark identification examiners are not based on science, but rather on the opinion of the examiner. R. 38, l. 4 – 41, l. 2.

The state argued that under State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), and State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), they had laid the proper foundation for the admissibility of Cromer’s expert testimony. The assistant solicitor maintained that the scientific method used by

firearm and toolmark examiners is accepted in both the scientific and legal communities and, based on her research, in every jurisdiction in our country. She also argued that there are numerous peer reviewed publications on the topic and that SLED has its own quality control procedures in place. Moreover, she claimed there was no evidence before the court that the science behind the field is unreliable and that Cromer should not be required to change her conclusions in this case. R. 41, l. 4 – 43, l. 7.

The court stated, “It’s widely accepted, based upon the testimony that was elicited from this stand, the method, manner, and procedure in which she performed the testing and the conclusions that she came to, based upon her testimony, is accepted within the scientific community of this particular expert area.” R. 43, ll. 17-22. Moreover, the court found “the testimony of Ms. Cromer is outside the ordinary lay knowledge of individuals” and that defense counsel acknowledged “she is an expert entitled to testify with regards to firearms and toolmarkings.” R. 44, l. 21 – 45, l. 1. Judge Brown also indicated that he did not believe “it would be proper for the Court to order that she change her conclusion” and, therefore, he denied Appellant’s motion and found Cromer was qualified to render such opinion. R. 45, ll. 1-21.

Discussion

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