ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

Appeal from Kershaw County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

DEC 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

FRANK TERRANCE SINGLETON, III,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2014-002004.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL EDWARD JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
1701 Main Street, Third Floor
Columbia, SC 29201

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

assigned to “how many points of similarity are necessary for a given level of confidence in the result” of an examination. *Id.* at 154. As a result,

[t]he committee agrees that class characteristics are helpful in narrowing the pool of tools that may have left a distinctive mark. Individual patterns from manufacture or from wear might, in some cases, be distinctive enough to suggest one particular source, but additional studies should be performed to make the process of individualization more precise and repeatable.

Id. At its conclusion, the National Research Council’s critique of this topic stresses that this field of forensic study “lacks the specificity of the protocols of, say, 13 STR DNA analysis. This is not to say that toolmark analysis needs to be as objective as DNA analysis in order to provide value.” *Id.* at 155. Indeed, a comparison between leaden ballistics inherently lacks the same individualized organic components which provide the confidence underlining DNA analyses’ admissibility. For that reason alone, the two are not comparable when determining the reliability, and therefore the admissibility, of firearm and toolmark examination results.

And, even by the terms of the study put forward by Appellant, the methodology employed by firearm and toolmark examiners proves reliable. The National Research Council report breaks down the field of study in the same manner testified to by Agent Cromer. *Id.* at 152-54 (“Bullets and cartridge casings are first examined to determine which class characteristics are present . . .”). It references an identical peer review study as cited by Agent Cromer. *Id.* at 155 (citing J.E. Hamby, D.J. Brundage, and J.W. Thorpe, *The identification of bullets fired from 10 consecutively rifled 9mm Ruger pistol barrels—A research project involving 468 participants from 19 countries*, 41 *AFTE J.* 2, 99-110 (2009)). As such, the National Research Council report upon which Appellant

relies lends credence to the dependability of Agent Cromer's proffer.

Our own courts also consistently admit conclusive expert opinions on the topic of firearm and toolmark examination where both gun and projectile are available for comparison. *See e.g., State v. Winkler*, 388 S.C. 574, 581, 698 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2010) (“A firearms and toolmark examiner for SLED testified that the Jennings pistol found on Appellant when apprehended fired the bullet recovered from Victim’s baseboard.”); *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 349, 751 S.E.2d 645, 648 (2013) (SLED firearms analyst “testified that through laboratory testing, she was able to determine that the projectile recovered during the autopsy and the shell casing found near the victim’s body were both fired by the pistol.”); *State v. Miller*, No. 2015-UP-310, 2015 WL 3885675, at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. June 24, 2015) (firearm and toolmark examiner “verified the bullet that killed the dog was fired from a different handgun than the one that fired the bullets into the victim’s body”).⁸

⁸ In fact, a number of courts accept firearm and toolmark identification testimony as reliable. *E.g. State v. Romero*, 236 Ariz. 451, 454-58, 341 P.3d 493, 496-500 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2014) (holding methodology governing firearms identification sufficiently reliable to permit a qualified expert to provide in-court technical testimony) (finding *Willock, infra*, persuasive and *Monteiro, infra*, distinguishable); *United States v. Hicks*, 389 F.3d 514, 526 (5th Cir. 2004) (“We have not been pointed to a single case in this or any other circuit suggesting that the methodology employed . . . is unreliable.”); *United States v. Monteiro*, 407 F.Supp.2d 351 (D. Mass. 2006) (“There has also been no credible challenge to the underlying physical theory of how marks are transferred from the firearm to the cartridge case. The government has met its burden . . . under Rule 702.”) (but restricting identification where examiner failed to document conclusion or have them confirmed by another qualified examiner); *United States v. Santiago*, 199 F. Supp. 2d 101, 111 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (“The Court has not found a single case in this Circuit that would suggest that the entire field of ballistics identification is unreliable.”); *see also State v. Phillips*, 2015 WL 5168253 (Del. Sup. Ct. 2015) (*unpublished*) (holding motion to exclude examiner’s testimony properly denied where forensic study deemed reliable). But, jurisdictions have limited the certainty with which the expert may report results, especially where a firearm is unavailable for comparison. *E.g. United States v. Taylor*,

Where, as here, the trial court finds the proffered technical evidence reliable, the expert's opinion testimony is admissible. *Council, supra*; Rule 702, SCRE. Thus, Agent Cromer was allowed to opine before the jury that "the projectile was fired from this firearm." (R. p. 368, line 20); Rule 702, SCRE. Appellant instead asks the court to order a duly qualified expert to change her opinion. For Agent Cromer to opine that the Grizzly firearm "could not be excluded" as the one which fired the .45 projectiles ignores the fact that Agent Cromer was bound by her own methodology to come to one of four conclusions concerning whether the firearm matched the projectiles: positive, negative, unsuitable, or inconclusive. (R. p. 15, lines 1-11). The certain terminology which

663 F. Supp. 2d 1170, 1180 (D.N.M. 2009) (Examiner "may only testify that, in his opinion, the bullet came from the suspect rifle to within a reasonable degree of certainty in the firearms examination field."); *United States v. Glynn*, 578 F.Supp.2d 567 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (applying "more likely than not" limitation to opinion testimony); *United States v. Monteiro, supra* at 373 ("an expert may not assert any degree of statistical certainty, 100 percent or otherwise, as to a match"); *Sexton v. State*, 93 S.W.3d 96 (Tex. Crim. App. 2002) (rejecting matching cartridge cases to weapon based only upon magazine marks where the underlying magazine unrecovered); *Ramirez v. State*, 810 So.2d 836 (Fla. 2001) (rejecting toolmark analysis matching knife to fatal stab wounds).

After conducting a thorough review of the underlying practice, National Research Council critique, and trends in the admissibility of firearm and toolmark examination, a Maryland District Court found "no meaningful distinction between a firearms examiner saying that 'the likelihood of another firearm having fired these cartridges is so remote as to be considered a practical impossibility' and saying that his identification is 'an absolute certainty.'" *United States v. Willock*, 696 F. Supp. 2d 536, 550-73 (D. Md. 2010) (quoting Mark Twain's 1883 essay *Life on the Mississippi*, "There is something fascinating about science. One gets such wholesome returns of conjecture out of such a trifling investment of fact."). That court, however, did limit the firearms examiner to opining in "more likely than not" terms because that examiner's opinion piggybacked upon that of an unknown city examiner's. *Id.* at 574. In affirming, the Fourth Circuit held that any degree of certainty exemplified during the firearm examiner's testimony constituted harmless error because it only "potentially connected the firearm to both murders," but fell short of proving either defendant "was responsible for the casings at either murder." *United States v. Mouzone*, 687 F.3d 207, 215-17 (4th Cir. 2012).

Appellant desired Agent Cromer to use effectively asked her to alter her professional opinion from one of “positive,” that “this cartridge case or bullet was fired by the tested gun,” to something else.⁹ If the court bound Agent Cromer to testify that the Grizzly “could not be excluded” as a firearm that possibly fired the .45 projectiles, the court would have altered the scientific framework within which she must base all findings.¹⁰ By the very nature of being admitted as an expert witness in her field, the rules of evidence provide Agent Cromer the freedom to opine in the certain terms provided by her practice—Rule 702 does not and should not require an expert to re-frame his or her professional opinion.

Instead, Appellant’s “cannot be excluded” contention is more appropriately addressed through cross-examination, and Appellant amply critiqued the reliability of Agent Cromer’s conclusion at trial. When given the opportunity to present the jury with reasons to question the weight it may afford Agent Cromer’s testimony, Appellant’s counsel pointed out that her determination ultimately results from a “pattern matching”—

⁹ Though an exact interpretation calls for speculation, “cannot be excluded” is arguably more near “inconclusive,” as in there were “not enough corresponding markings to conclude that it was or was not fired by the tested gun.” Or perhaps “cannot be excluded” is more near in meaning to “these specimens are ‘unsuitable’ for reaching a conclusion based upon their condition.” In any event, “cannot be excluded” does not match one of the four possible outcomes that Agent Cromer’s methodology led her to conclude in the instant case. (*See* R. p. 380, lines 7-21).

¹⁰ The reliability of that same scientific framework is the same basis upon which the court deemed the expert’s testimony admissible at trial. It would be counterintuitive for the court to admit the science as reliable and then alter the manner in which the expert in that field must present its methodology to the jury. Likewise, the proposed “cannot exclude” nomenclature is counterintuitive to firearm and toolmark examination. The science is premised upon the fact that no two firearms leave the exact same composition of markings on their respectively fired projectiles. It follows that an expert in this field would be undermining their practice by having to opine only that a gun “cannot be excluded” as having fired a projectile.

a visual comparison of test fires and the projectiles in evidence, and that there is no threshold number of identifying characteristics necessary for her to find a sufficient agreement among the evidence. (R. p. 373, line 9 – p. 383, line 2).

In sum, Appellant fails now and at trial to counter the reliability of firearm and toolmark examination so as to render the field inadmissible. Appellant was provided an opportunity to cross-examine Agent Cromer regarding reported weaknesses in the examination process. The jury was instructed to give Agent Cromer's expert testimony only the weight it saw fit. Otherwise, Agent Cromer's proffer provided ample indicia that the practice of firearm and toolmark examination is a reliable and technical area of study upon which she may opine at trial, and the court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Agent Cromer to present her educated, unfiltered opinion before the jury.

C. Any error in the failure to limit Agent Cromer's opinion that the projectiles in evidence were fired from the .45 Grizzly proves harmless given the remainder of the testimony implicating Appellant.

Even if wrongly admitted by the trial judge, Agent Cromer's "positive" opinion constitutes harmless error where it did not affect the outcome of the trial. *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 647-48, 515 S.E.2d 98, 100 (1999). In this case, "beyond a reasonable doubt, the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 165, 420 S.E.2d 834, 838 (1992) (quoting *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 23, 87 S.Ct. 824, 827 (1967)). "To say that an error did not contribute to the verdict is . . . to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question." *Yates v. Evatt*, 500 U.S. 391, 403-04, 111 S.Ct. 1884, 1892-93 (1991).

Here, a number of co-defendants consistently testified against Appellant. Rasheed Halley testified that he let Will Smith a/k/a Ill Will use his gray Mercury Grand Marquis on November 14, and that when the car was returned there was a safe in the trunk. (R. p. 63, line 16 – p. 64, line 24). Marcellus Juggins testified that he initially went with Appellant, Sticky, Diablo, and Randy Lewis to rob Robert Mackay the first time, the time when they turned around and came home because they thought it was too noisy. (R. p. 70, line 4 – p. 71, line 6). Juggins also testified that he led Appellant, Diablo, Randy Lewis, and Sticky out to a man in the country that he knew could open the safe for them. (R. p. 72, line 9 – p. 73, line 23).

Sticky testified that Appellant admitted to lying in wait in a nearby abandoned trailer until he deemed the time to be ripe, then kicked in the door at the victim's home, hit him in the head with a pistol, and eventually shot the victim with a .45. Sticky also

went along with other co-defendants to have the safe opened by the man in the country. Sticky also testified that Appellant admitted taking a small .22 from the victim's home during the robbery. (R. p. 193, line 9 – p. 196, line 25).

Regarding the actual events of the burglary-gone-wrong, Randy Lewis testified to them in detail. Appellant, Lewis, Roach, Diablo and Ill Will set off on the robbery, parked a Mercury on a dirt road behind the victim's residence, walked through the woods armed and concealed by masks and gloves, sat in an abandoned trailer until the time was right, and then made forcible entry to the victim's mobile home when Appellant kicked in the front door. Lewis recalled Diablo threatening the victim's daughter, shooting the victim in the leg, hearing the victim get hit in the head, and hearing the knock on the front door that threw the robbery off-kilter. Lewis further testified as to the scuffle and gunshots that ensued, and that he ran back to the car where he saw Appellant return with a safe he had taken from the victim's residence. (R. p. 215, line 13 – p. 232, line 25).

Diablo testified nearly precisely the same as Lewis, adding that Appellant had scoped out the victim's residence on at least two prior occasions. Diablo also testified that Appellant shot the victim in the chest, that the victim took off running, that Ill Will fired his gun, and that the victim then fell to the ground. (R. p. 283, line 24 – p. 309, line 24). Ill Will made a corroborating statement to law enforcement, but recanted it at trial and was impeached through the testimony of SLED Agent Lee Blackmon. (R. p. 255, line 7 – p. 266, line 5; R. p. 330, line 23 – p. 338, line 10; R. pp. 547 – 549). At trial, Ill Will did testify that he drove Appellant, Richard Roach, Sticky and Diablo in a Grand Marquis to a dirt road on November 14, 2008, where they got out and ran into the woods. Ill Will testified that he stayed in the car and "dozed off" until his cohorts returned and asked him

to pop the trunk so they could put something in the back of the car before leaving. (R. p. 251, line 2 – p. 254, line 24).

The victim's autopsy showed that he had in fact previously suffered gunshot wounds to the chest, abdomen and right leg. (R. p. 131, lines 5-7). One of the victim's friends also testified that he recalled seeing a "silver or white four door Mercury" parked on the side of a dirt road that day as if it were broken down. (R. p. 243, lines 3-12).

Because of the detailed manner in which each co-defendant's testimony dovetailed at trial, the jury received a conclusive picture upon which to convict Appellant of each crime charged. The firearm and toolmark examination evidence was merely additional corroborating evidence and any error in its admission proves harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should find the issue raised by Appellant unpreserved for review. In the alternative, Respondent reiterates that this Court should find Agent Cromer's opinion in the field of firearm and toolmark identification properly admitted under *State v. Council, supra* and Rule 702, SCRE, and affirm the Appellant's convictions for murder, first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.